DENTIN MICROSHEAR BOND STRENGTH OF VARIOUS LUTING AGENTS TO ZIRCONIA-REINFORCED LITHIUM SILICATE CERAMICS



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Esthetic Restorative and Implant Dentistry Common Course Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University การศึกษาแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาคของเนื้อฟันด้วยสารยึดติดระบบต่าง ๆ ที่มีต่อวัสดุลิเทียมซิ ลิเกตที่เสริมความแข็งแรงด้วยเซอร์โคเนีย



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาทันตกรรมบูรณะเพื่อความสวยงามและทันตกรรมรากเทียม ไม่สังกัดภาควิชา/เทียบเท่า คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	DENTIN MICROSHEAR BOND STRENGTH OF VARIOUS LUTING
	AGENTS TO ZIRCONIA-REINFORCED LITHIUM SILICATE
	CERAMICS
Ву	Mr. Natthapong Itthipongsatorn
Field of Study	Esthetic Restorative and Implant Dentistry
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor SIRIVIMOL SRISAWASDI, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Associate Professor PRAVEJ SERICHETAPHONGSE)
Thesis Advisor
(Associate Professor SIRIVIMOL SRISAWASDI, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Associate Professor Pavinee Padipatvuthikul Didron, Ph.D.)

ณัฐพงษ์ อิทธิพงศธร : การศึกษาแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาคของเนื้อฟันด้วยสารยึดติดระบบ ต่าง ๆ ที่มีต่อวัสดุลิเทียมซิลิเกตที่เสริมความแข็งแรงด้วยเซอร์โคเนีย. (DENTIN MICROSHEAR BOND STRENGTH OF VARIOUS LUTING AGENTS TO ZIRCONIA-REINFORCED LITHIUM SILICATE CERAMICS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : รศ. ทญ. ดร.ศิริวิมล ศรีสวัสดิ์

วัตถุปุระสงค์: เพื่อทดสอบแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาคของสารยึดติดระบบเอชแอนด์ริ้น ยูนิเวอ ซัล และเซลฟ์แอดฮีซีฟ ที่ใช้ยึดลิเทียมซิลิเกตที่เสริมความแข็งแรงด้วยเซอร์โคเนีย (ZLS) กับเนื้อฟัน

วิธีการศึกษา: ก้อนไวต้า สุพรินิตี้ [Vita Suprinity[®] (VS, Vita Zahnfabrik)] และเซลทรา ดูโอ [Celtra[®] Duo (CD, Dentsply Sirona)] ถูกตัดเป็นแท่งขนาด 1×1×3 ลูกบาศก์มิลลิเมตร จำนวน 36 และ 72 แท่ง ตามลำดับ โดย VS จะเข้าสู่กระบวนการตกผลึกทั้งหมด ขณะที่ครึ่งหนึ่งของ CD จะได้รับการเผาเพิ่มเติม และถูกเรียกว่า ไฟร์เซลทรา ดูโอ (fired-Celtra[®] Duo, FCD) และ CD ที่เหลือจะถูกเรียกว่า อันไฟร์เซลทรา ดูโอ (unfired-Celtra[®] Duo, UCD) จากนั้นแต่ละแท่งของ ZLS จะถูกยึดกับเนื้อฟันของฟันกรามเล็กมนุษย์ ด้วยสาร ยึดติด สกอตซ์บอนด์ มัลติ-เพอโพส [Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose (SM, 3M ESPE)] ซึ่งเกิ้ล บอนด์ ยูนิเวอ ชัล [(Single Bond Universal (SU, 3M ESPE)] ร่วมกับ รีไลน์เอกซ์ อัลทิเมต [RelyX[™] Ultimate (RXU, 3M ESPE)] และรีไลน์เอกซ์ ยูนิเซ็ม [RelyX[™] Unicem (U2, 3M ESPE)] จำนวน 12 ชิ้นงานต่อกลุ่ม รวม 9 กลุ่ม การทดลอง จากนั้นทุกชิ้นงานจะถูกแซ่ในน้ำที่อุณหภูมิ 37 องศาเซลเซียสเป็นเวลา 24 ชั่วโมง ก่อนนำไปวัด ค่าแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาค และนำไปวิเคราะห์ทางสถิติด้วยการวิเคราะห์ความแปรปรวน 2 ทางและทูกี โพส-ฮอค เทสที่ระดับนัยสำคัญ .05 รวมถึงดูลักษณะของการแตกภายใต้กล้องจุลทรรศน์ที่กำลังขยาย 40 เท่า

ผลการศึกษา: การวิเคราะห์ความแปรปรวน 2 ทาง พบว่าชนิดของ ZLS ไม่มีผลต่อค่าแรงยึดติดแบบ เฉือนระดับจุลภาค (*P*=.699) ในขณะที่ชนิดของสารยึดติด และการมีปฏิสัมพันธ์ระหว่างกันของทั้ง 2 ปัจจัย มีผล ต่อค่าแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาคอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ (*P*<.001 และ .002 ตามลำดับ) นอกจากนี้ทูกี้ โพส-ฮอค เทส พบว่า U2 ให้ค่าแรงยึดติดแบบเฉือนระดับจุลภาคน้อยกว่าสารยึดติดที่เหลืออีก 2 ระบบอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ ยกเว้นกลุ่ม UCDU2 ที่ไม่แตกต่างกับ UCDSU (*P*=.478)

สรุป: สารยึดติดระบบเอชแอนด์ริ้น และยูนิเวอซัล เหมาะสมต่อการใช้ยึด ZLS เข้ากับเนื้อฟัน

สาขาวิชา	ทันตกรรมบูรณะเพื่อความสวยงาม	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	และทันตกรรมรากเทียม	
ปีการศึกษา	2561	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

5875811132 : MAJOR ESTHETIC RESTORATIVE AND IMPLANT DENTISTRY

KEYWORD:

microshear bond strength; self-adhesive resin cement; three-step etch-and-

rinse adhesive; universal adhesive; zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramics Natthapong Itthipongsatorn : DENTIN MICROSHEAR BOND STRENGTH OF VARIOUS LUTING AGENTS TO ZIRCONIA-REINFORCED LITHIUM SILICATE CERAMICS. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. SIRIVIMOL SRISAWASDI, Ph.D.

Statement of problem. Performance of adhesive and resin luting cements used to bond zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramics (ZLS) to dentin has not been well established. Purpose. To examine microshear bond strength (µSBS) of etch-and-rinse adhesive system, universal adhesive and self-adhesive resin cement that were used to bond ZLS to dentin. Material and Methods. Vita Suprinity[®] (VS, Vita Zahnfabrik) and Celtra[®] Duo (CD, Dentsply Sirona) blocks were sectioned into 36 and 72 microbars $(1 \times 1 \times 3 \text{ mm}^3)$ respectively. All VS were crystallized, while half of CD were additionally fired and defined as fired-Celtra® Duo (FCD). The others were defined as unfired-Celtra[®] Duo (UCD). Each microbar was cemented to each flat occlusal dentin surface of human premolar, following the adhesive luting systems: Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose (SM, 3M ESPE) and Single Bond Universal (SU, 3M ESPE) combined with RelyX[™] Ultimate (RXU, 3M ESPE), and RelyX[™] Unicem (U2, 3M ESPE) (n=12 per group). 24hour µSBS was then determined, and data were analyzed using two-way ANOVA and a Tukey post-hoc test (α = .05). Failure modes were analyzed under a stereomicroscope at 40×. Results. Two-way ANOVA revealed that type of ZLS had no influence on μ SBS (P=.699). In contrast, kind of adhesive luting cements and their interaction had a statistically significant effect on µSBS (P<.001 and .002 respectively). According to Tukey post-hoc test, U2 had a statistically significant lower mean μ SBS regardless of the type ZLS, compared with SM and SU, while UCDU2 did not have a statistically significant difference in µSBS from UCDSU (P=.478).

Conclusions. Etch-and-rinse and universal adhesive resin luting systems may be suitable for cementation of ZLS to dentin.

Field of Study:	Esthetic Restorative and	Student's Signature
	Implant Dentistry	
Academic Year:	2018	Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The success and final outcome of this project required a lot of guidance and assistance from many people. The author would like to use this opportunity to express his gratitude to everyone who supported him throughout this project.

The author respects and thanks his advisor, Associate Professor Sirivimol Srisawasdi, Ph.D. who was extremely helpful and offered invaluable assistance, support and guidance. This study would not have been successful without her knowledge and assistance.

The author is also immensely grateful to the member of supervisory committee, Associate Professor Pravej Serichetaphongse and Associate Professor Pavinee Padipatvuthikul Didron, Ph.D. for sharing their expertise and providing many valuable comments which improved the methodology of this research.

The author would like to express his sincere thanks to Associate Professor Chanchai Hosawuan for suggestions and all his help about statistical methods.

A very special gratitude goes out to all down at Dental Research center from Chulalongkorn University for providing the facilities being required for the project.

Special thanks also to all his graduate friends who always been there together and all their encouragement.

Finally, the author wishes to express his love and gratitude to his beloved families; for their understanding and supporting him spiritually throughout his life.

Natthapong Itthipongsatorn

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pag	ge
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	i
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	r
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	,
TABLE OF CONTENTS	i
LIST OF TABLESix	r L
LIST OF FIGURESx	r
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
Rationale and Significance of the Problem1	
Research Questions	I
Research Objectives	I
Hypotheses	
Null hypotheses	
Alternative Hypothesis	
Conceptual Framework	
Keywords	
Expected Benefit of the Study	
CHAPTER II REVIEW OF THE LITERATURES	,
Dental ceramics	,
Surface treatment	I
Adhesive systems	
Luting cements)

Bond strength test	29
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Research design	
Research methodology	
Sample size description	
Materials	
Apparatus	
Experimental groups and their details	
Definition of specimen groups	
Possible Impediments and Solutions	
Methods	
Tooth Selection	
Tooth preparation	
Ceramic microbar preparation	50
Surface pre-treatment and cementation procedures	
Microshear bond strength testing (µSBS)	57
Failure Mode Analysis	
Data Collection and Analysis	60
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	61
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	67
Discussion	67
Limitations	72
Suggested further studies	73
Conclusions	73

Clinical implication	74
Declaration of Conflicting Interest	74
REFERENCES	75
APPENDICES	87
VITA	97



Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1. Mean microshear bond strength and standard deviation from previous	
published articles and sample size calculation	36
Table 2. Datasheet of ceramics used	37
Table 3. Adhesive systems used in the study	38
Table 4. Instrument used in this study	39
Table 5. Description of groups according to variables	40
Table 6. Types of failure	59
Table 7. Two-way ANOVA reveals the significant effects of adhesive luting and the	2
interaction factor	63
Table 8. Microshear bond strength values [mean (MPa) \pm SD] and statistical	
comparison of different groups	64
Section and and a section of the sec	

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1. Diagram of Conceptual Framework	5
Figure 2. Diagram of study design	. 33
Figure 3. Grinder-Polisher Machine (AutoMet [®] 250)	. 48
Figure 4. Deep dentin surface underwent grinding using a 600-grit silicon carbide	. 48
Figure 5. Preparation of dentin specimen	. 49
Figure 6. A) Prepared tooth after polishing in a polyvinyl chloride tube at top view	/
B) Prepared tooth after polishing in a polyvinyl chloride tube at proximal view	. 49
Figure 7. Preparation of ZLS microbars	. 51
Figure 8. Ceramic furnace (Programat P700, Ivoclar Vivadent)	. 51
Figure 9. Cementation of the ceramic microbar to dentin specimen	. 55
Figure 10. ZLS microbar cemented to dentin specimen	. 55
Figure 11. Durometer (ASTM D 2240 Type A, PTC Instrument, USA)	. 56
Figure 12. Universal testing machine (EZ-S Shimadzu, Japan)	. 57
Figure 13. A) Microshear bond strength testing at proximal view	
B) Microshear bond strength testing at frontal view	. 58
Figure 14. Microshear bond strength values (mean (MPa) \pm SD) and statistical	
comparison of different groups	. 62
Figure 15. Failure mode percentages of all groups	. 65
Figure 16. A), B) Cohesive failure in luting cement at ZLS and tooth-side	
C), D) Adhesive failure between cement and dentin at ZLS and tooth-side	
E), F) Adhesive failure between cement and ceramic at ZLS and tooth-side	66

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Rationale and Significance of the Problem

Today, all-ceramic restorations, such as veneers, crowns, inlays and onlays,

are widely used in an attempt to overcome the esthetic limitations of metal-ceramic

restorations. Recently, computer-aided-designing and computer-aided-manufacturing

(CAD/CAM) technology has become rapidly popular as an alternative to traditional

manufacturing processes, in combination with advances in dental ceramic materials

and adhesive technology, which provide more conservative and simplified restorative

procedures with sufficient physical properties to increase the longevity of restorations

(1, 2).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn University

Currently, a novel material, zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic (ZLS),

has been launched and claimed that 10% by weight zirconia can reinforce the

material, thereby avoiding crack propagation (3). Vita Suprinity[®] (VS, Vita Zahnfabrik,

Germany) is a precrystallized ZLS. On the contrary, Celtra[®] Duo (CD, Dentsply Sirona,

Germany) being an already crystallized ceramic, can be delivered directly after

finishing and polishing. The milled restoration (unfired-Celtra[®] Duo, UCD) has a

flexural strength of 210 MPa. However, an additional firing (fired-Celtra[®] Duo, FCD)

increased the material's flexural strength to 370 MPa (4).

A new family of adhesive system, called a universal or multi-mode adhesive,

has been invented and claimed to use for direct and indirect restorations (5). For

versatility bonding with different substrates in adhesive cementation, some universal

adhesives contain silane and a specific functional monomer named 10-

methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (10-MDP), which contribute to luting of

metal alloys, zirconia, glass ceramics, resin composite and other ceramics (6).

Moreover, for the purpose of simplicity of application during cementation

Chulalongkorn University

procedure and prevention of the collapse in demineralized dentin using phosphoric

acid conditioning, self-adhesive resin cement has been introduced (7, 8). The

multifunctional phosphoric acid methacrylates in organic matrix of this cement class

can demineralize and subsequently infiltrate to the tooth structure resulting in

micromechanical interlocking without additional tooth surface pre-treatment (9).

There have been studies investigating the efficacy of three-step etch-and-

rinse adhesive, universal adhesive and self-adhesive resin luting cement which were

used to bond zirconia or glass ceramic to dentin (10-12). However, the effectiveness

of these cementation systems on ZLS has not been thoroughly reported.

Research Questions

1. What are the efficacies of the three-step etch-and-rinse adhesive, universal

adhesive and self-adhesive resin luting cement in the viewpoint of microshear bond

strength (µSBS) on ZLS bonded to dentin?

2. Do the different forms of ZLS equally achieve µSBS when they are bonded

to dentin using various resin luting cements?

Chulalongkorn University

Research Objectives

1. To examine the performance of three adhesive luting systems used to

bond different forms of ZLS to dentin in the aspect of μ SBS.

2. To investigate that the different forms of ZLS can affect μSBS or not when

they were bonded to dentin using various resin luting cements.

Hypotheses

Null hypotheses

1. There was no significant difference in μ SBS of different resin luting systems

used to cement ZLS to dentin.

2. There was no significant difference in µSBS of different forms of ZLS

bonded to dentin using resin luting cements.

Alternative Hypothesis

1. There was at least one significant difference in µSBS of the three-step etch-

and-rinse adhesive, universal adhesive and self-adhesive resin luting cement used to

bond ZLS to dentin.

2. There was at least one significant difference in μSBS of different forms of

ZLS bonded to dentin using various resin luting cements.

Conceptual Framework



Keywords

microshear bond strength, self-adhesive resin cement, three-step etch-and-

rinse adhesive, universal adhesive, zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramics

Expected Benefit of the Study

Outcome of this present study may provide clinician useful information

regarding selection both adhesive resin luting agent for cementation and form of

zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic bonded to tooth structure.



CHAPTER II REVIEW OF THE LITERATURES

The literatures in these following topics have been reviews.

Dental ceramics

Surface treatment

Adhesive systems

Luting cements

Bond strength test

Dental ceramics

The traditional porcelain such as feldspatic, alumina-based ceramics has the

disadvantages of brittleness, crack propagation, low tensile strength, wear resistance,

and marginal inaccuracy (13). So the combination of predictable strength and

acceptable esthetics has continued to make traditional metal-ceramic restorations

popular (14). However, patient demand in high esthetics restoration has driven the

development of all ceramic for use with veneer, inlays, onlays, crowns, fix partial

denture prosthesis, and implant-supported restorations (15).

The improvement of all ceramic material systems which can offer good

esthetics and simplify fabrication procedures have been introduced (16). Heat-

pressing is a process which can solve the problems both in homogeneity and

porosity occurring during ceramming (17, 18). The first heat-press ceramic material,

IPS Empress (Ivoclar-Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein), is a type of leucite-reinforced

glass ceramic and has a flexural strength of 182 megapascal (MPa) (18). The material

is designed for the fabrication of inlays, onlays and veneers (17). IPS Empress 2

(Ivoclar-Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein) is a lithium disilicate ($2SiO_2 - Li_2O$) glass

ceramic has improved flexural strength by a factor of 3 over IPS Empress. The

fracture strength of this material was found to be 350 MPa (19, 20). Therefore, it has

been indicated for both anterior three-unit fixed partial dentures and restorations in

the posterior region extending to the second premolar (19, 20).

In 2005, an improved press ceramic material compared to IPS Empress 2

called IPS e.max Press (Ivoclar-Vivadent Schaan, Liechtenstein) was introduced. The

IPS e.max Press material consists of a lithium disilicate pressed glass ceramic. The

chemical basis of the material is the same as the chemical basis of IPS Empress 2

(2SiO $_2$ -Li $_2$ O), but its physical properties and translucency are improved by a different

firing process (21). So the framework can be veneered with a new type of sintered

fluoroapatite porcelain.

To create the restoration, the material is injected in a mold of coating

obtained by loss wax technic under high temperature and pressure. This system

reduced the problem of contraction during the burn of ceramic, common found in

feldspathic materials due to the high pressure of injection in high temperature mold.

Because of that, dimensional variation only occurs during the cooling, and it can be

controlled by adequate expansion of the investment material (22).

A characteristic of lithium disilicate glass ceramic is the quality to be acid

sensitive, in other words, it suffers morphological changes in front of acid treatment

with hydrofluoric acid in different concentrations. This phenomenon occurs due to

the micro-structural characteristics of the material. The main crystalline phase

consists of elongated lithium disilicate crystals. The second crystalline phase consists

of lithium orthophosphate. A glass matrix surrounds both crystalline phases.

Hydrofluoric acid in 10% of concentration is capable to remove the glass matrix and the lithium orthophosphate crystalline phase exposing only lithium disilicate crystals

creating an irregular surface fundamental to a good adhesion (22).

Ceramics tend to be rigid and brittle, while resin composites are more

compliant, soft and experience high wear. The ideal goal for restorative dentistry

would be to replace lost tooth substance by a restorative material with tooth like

structure and matching physical properties. Toward this objective a novel material

that attempts to emulate the properties of natural teeth in its structure and physical

properties was developed and named polymer-infiltrated-ceramic-network material

(PICN). The goal is to achieve a material with enhanced mechanical characteristics,

compared to conventional restorative materials like ceramics and resin composites

(23).

A new ceramic material for dental restorations has been lately introduced. ZLS is based on a lithium-metasilicate (Li_2SiO_3) glass ceramic, reinforced with about 10% of zirconium dioxide (ZrO_2) and crystallized by diphosphorus pentoxide (P_2O_5) as nucleation agent of lithium-metasilicate. After final crystallization process, this material leads to the formation of fine grained microstructure (Li_2O -ZrO₂-SiO₂), resulting in four times smaller lithium silicate crystals. ZLS belongs to a new generation of materials intended for CAD/CAM use. It combines the positive mechanical characteristics of the zirconia with the aesthetic appearance of glassceramic. Unlike the zirconia restorations, according to the manufacturer's instructions, ZLS could be etched and cemented with adhesive systems (24, 25). Currently, there are two brands of ZLS in the market. Suprinity (Vita Zahnfabrik) and Celtra Duo (Dentsply Sirona) were launched for chairside as well as lab site processing. ZLS Vita Suprinity[®] is a precrystallized ceramic material. Accordingly, the CAM processing is comparable with lithium disilicate ceramic materials in the aspect of crystallization firing after milling to achieve the final density. However, the ZLS Celtra Duo (Dentsply Sirona) is a finally crystallized

ceramic. It is especially suitable for chairside application, as the final restoration is

available after a milling time of only 10 to 22 minutes. The milled restorations have

a flexural strength of 210 MPa. An additional stain and glaze firing increased the

material's flexural strength to 370 MPa (26). Thus, the final crystallized ZLS offered

combination of short processing times and high stability (27).

Guazzato et al. evaluated the fracture toughness of zirconia-based dental

materials found values ranging from 4.8 \pm 0.5 MPa m^{1/2} to 7.4 \pm 0.6 MPa m^{1/2} and

hardness values between 11±0.9 GPa and 13±0.3 GPa (28). While Traini et al. found

that fully crystalized state ZLS presented values of fracture toughness equal to

4.7 \pm 0.8 MPa m^{1/2} and Vickers hardness equal to 7.6 \pm 0.7 GPa (24).

On the other hand, for pressable lithium-disilicate ceramics it was reported

fracture toughness of 1.13 ± 0.02 MPa m^{1/2}, and hardness value of 5.38 ± 0.28 GPa (29),

while the CAD/CAM lithium disilicate ceramic was reported to have values of fracture

toughness ranging from 2.27 \pm 0.16 MPa m^{1/2} to 2.37 \pm 0.28 MPa m^{1/2} and values of

Vickers hardness of 6.02±0.2 GPa (30). Otherwise, the fracture toughness of the

dental enamel was reported as ranging between 0.7±0.2 MPa $m^{1/2}\,and$ 1.77±0.2 MPa

 $m^{1/2}$ while, the hardness values showed 4.7±0.3 GPa (31).

The collected data prove that ZLS exhibits superior mechanical properties

compared to lithium-disilicate glass ceramics and comparable to those of existing

zirconia-based ceramics. The comparison with enamel also showed that the material

is suitable for oral function, even in the posterior regions where the masticatory

forces ranged between 600 and 900 N (32).

Surface treatment

The other important requirement for success of ceramic restorations is the

achievement of adequate adhesion between the ceramic and tooth substrate. The

Chulalongkorn University

selection of an appropriate surface treatment and adhesive system plays an

important role in clinical success.

The extension of the etching time indicated by the manufacturer for an acid-

sensitive ceramic was analyzed by Zogheib and others, who concluded that lithium

disilicate ceramic required more than 60 seconds of hydrofluoric acid etching for the

creation of effective microretention (33). However, Menees and others found that

hydrofluoric acid etching for 20 seconds in concentrations varying from 5% and 9.5%

was enough to remove the glass matrix. Despite extensive removal for 120 seconds,

it was clear that the resulting etch pattern for these conditions was uniform and was

not enough to affect the bending strength of the lithium disilicate ceramic(34).

Traini et al. (24) found that zirconia reinforced lithium silicate ceramic, Vita

Suprinity[®] (Vita Zahnfabrik) which, was treated by hydrofluoric acid gel at 4.9% for 20

s showed the best result with preservation of microstructure. While increasing the

etching time to 40 s, the surface degradation of ZLS Vita Suprinity[®] (Vita Zahnfabrik)

microstructure appeared evident. At the same time, the increase of hydrofluoric acid

concentration to 9.5% either for 20 s and 40 s produced a progressive surface

degradation with a large destructuring of the ZLS material.

According to the manufacturer, ZLS was pre-treated with hydrofluoric and

silane coupling agent in order to improve bonding performance (35). The hydrofluoric

acid attacked the glassy phase of the ceramics, dissolving the surface in a few

micrometers depth, creating micro porosities which was required for

micromechanical retention, removing surface impurities, such as oxides and other

inorganic and organic debris, making the surface readily wettable for the

subsequently applied silane coupling agent and resin cement (36). This porous

surface not only provided more surface area for resin bonding, but also exposed and

generated hydroxyl groups on the ceramic surface that were responsible for chemical

bonding via silane coupling agents (26, 37).

After etching, the ceramic surface is treated with an activated silane coupling

agent to improve chemical adhesion (38, 39) and to provide reliable and durable

chemical bonding with adhesive resin cement (37). The specific silane used in

dentistry is 3-methacryloxypropyltri-methoxysilane. Silane coupling agent is hybrid

inorganic-organo-functional trialkoxysilane monomers and capable of unifying organic

and inorganic materials. In general, silane has non-hydrolysable groups (such as

methacrylate) and hydrolysable groups (such as ethoxy), which is why they are

chemically bifunctional (26). When reactive silane is applied over the etched ceramic

surface, the hydrolysable alkoxy groups react with exposed hydroxyl groups, and

non-hydrolyzable organic groups polymerize with unset resin cement (40). Hence, for

reliable and durable chemical bonding, it is necessary that the ceramic surface

should be conditioned before resin luting cements, including self-adhesive resin

cements, are used (41). However, such chemical reactions are not applicable for non-

silica containing zirconia-based ceramics.

However, the use of hydrofluoric acid requires careful attention due to its

potential risk for the degradation of organic matter (39). For this reason, other options

have been investigated for ceramic surface treatment, including air abrasion with

silica-coated aluminum oxide particles. During silica coating, the high energy of the

shock resulting from the aluminum oxide particles was responsible for the fusion of

these silica particles to the ceramic surface, making it chemically reactive to the resin

cement through the silane agent and also increasing bond strength to ceramics (42).

Conversely, silica coating treatment is controversial, because some authors

reported a decrease in mechanical strength of the material and the induction of

crack propagation (43, 44) whereas others have shown no deleterious effect on longterm mechanical behavior (44, 45).

Valandro et al. studied about surface treatment by using 10% hydrofluoric

acid for 20 seconds and 40 seconds and using CoJet[™] sandblasting apply to the ZLS

before cementation on composite blocks. They found that the lower bond strength

was obtained with acid etching for 40 seconds. It was explained by the removal of a

greater quantity of glass matrix and exposure of lithium silicate crystals and particles

of zirconia creating a surface with lower wettability. Moreover, surface modification

by the use of silica coating did not guarantee a stable bonding between ZLS and

resin cement in the long term (3). จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn Universit

Adhesive systems

Adhesive bonding procedure in dentistry is a process depending on various

factors, such as what kind of substrates (46), type of adhesive agents (47), humidity of

the substrates and surrounding condition (48), and practitioner's ability in performing

the bonding procedure (49). In the dental substrates aspect, adhesive procedures are

usually performed to bond to enamel and dentin. Enamel is a highly-mineralized substrate composed of almost 100 wt% of hydroxyapatite crystals, which do not need a wet surface during the procedures for proper bonding. It requires the application of a hydrophobic material only (46). Consequently, bonding to enamel has been demonstrated to be easy and durable (47). Whereas, dentin is a complicated substrate constituted of both mineral and organic phases as well as water. Therefore, bonding to dentin is challenging because an ideal moisture condition has to be maintained to avoid collapse of the collagen matrix and cause proper adhesive infiltration of the adhesive into the demineralized substrate (46). Dental adhesive systems are generally characterized by the application of three different substances, which fill three dissimilar clinical steps: etching, priming, and bonding. Etching is the application of an acid agent to demineralize the dental substrate surface; priming is the preparation of the etched surface before application of the adhesive. Bonding is the application of the hydrophobic resin bond adhesive over enamel and dentin.

According to the type of adhesive agents, available adhesives could be classified by the bonding strategies, as etch-and-rinse (total etch) systems and selfetching systems (47). The etch-and-rinse systems necessitate phosphoric acid etching and rinsing of enamel and dentin prior to applying adhesives agents, whereas the self-etching systems contain acid functional monomers which can condition both enamel and dentin simultaneously, without rinsing. Dentin bonding mechanism is based on the infiltration of resin monomers into the porosities created by removal of mineral or inorganic material from the dental tissues. This exchange results in micromechanical interlocking in the porosities formed. Successful dentin bonding could be achieved through several routes. The etch-and-rinse technique is the conventional three-step which use primer and adhesive separately or two-step which combines primer and adhesive agent together. Differences in material composition and

adhesive application technique can affect many properties such as film thickness,

bond strength, radiopacity, adaptation and marginal seal (50-52). In this technique,

the tooth substrate is first etched with 30-40% phosphoric acid (H_3PO_4) and leaved it

for 15-30s depended on what kind of substrate. Then rinsed off. Following acid

etching, primer and adhesive agent is applied on the conditioned tooth surface either

respectively or simultaneously. For dentin, the bonding mechanism of etch-and-rinse

adhesives primarily depends on micro-mechanical retention of resin with the

exposed collagen fibrils. For enamel, total etch technique is the most effective and

reliable method for long-term clinical success (53).

In the self-etching approach, adhesives condition and prime dentin are

applied at the same time, and no rinsing is required. In this procedure the clinical

application time is shortened and technique sensitivity is significantly reduced. Self-

etch adhesives can be categorized as mild and strong. Strong self-etch adhesives

with functional monomers have low pH<1 and their bonding mechanism is reported

to be similar to etch-and-rinse adhesives. Mild self-etch adhesives (pH≈2) selectively

demineralize the dentin surface and are reported to form a shallow hybrid layer.

Adhesion is ensured by chemical interaction between residual hydroxyapatite and

functional monomers (54).

One of the most recent innovation in adhesive dentistry was the introduction of universal or multi-mode adhesive. These materials are simplified adhesives. They usually are containing all bonding components in single bottle. Universal adhesives may be applied either in etch-and-rinse or self-etching approach, according to manufacturers' claims. In addition, some universal adhesives may contain silane in their formulation, potentially eliminating the silanization step when bonding to glass ceramics or resin composites. Nevertheless, it is known that simplified materials are associated with lower bond strength in vitro study and poorer in vivo longevity of restorations. These findings are probably a result of the complex formulation of simplified adhesives and their high content of solvents, which may impair complete solvent volatilization and consequently lead to poorer adhesive polymerization (55, 56).

One of the components in some universal adhesives is the 10-MDP. First time,

the patent of 10-MDP was owned by the Kuraray company for 10 years until 2011.

After that, a lot of products have been incorporated 10-MDP into various bonding

and luting agents, such as primers, adhesives, and resins-based luting systems. The

adhesion capability of these materials is due to this component which is the

hydrophilic phosphate monomer.

The dihydrogen phosphate group from the 10-MDP is responsible for priming

and bonding. It increases resin diffusion and adhesion by causing acidic

decalcification and forming strong ionic bonds either with calcium ions from

hydroxyapatite that forms calcium salts with low solubility, or amino groups of tooth

structure. These complex substances may be responsible for the good long-term

performance of MDP-containing adhesives (54, 57-59). While its long hydrophobic

carboxyl chain copolymerizes the resin monomers of the resin cement and provides

hydrolytic stability of acidic monomers (60).

จุหาลงกรณมหาวทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn University

The hydrophilicity of the ceramic is important in order to enable the universal

adhesive to spread across its entire surface and establish optimum adhesion. For

non-silica-based substrates, such as metal or zirconia, the hydrophilic phosphate

terminal end of 10-MDP interacts chemically with the oxides on the internal surface

of restorations (60). However, for silica-based indirect restorations such as feldspathic

porcelain, leucite-reinforced ceramic, or lithium disilicate glass ceramic, the reaction between silane and 10-MDP promotes the bonding mechanism and improving surface wettability. The free silanol groups form hydrogen bonds with the hydroxyl groups of the indirect restoration. Then cross-linkages are formed between the methacrylate groups of the resin cement with organofunctional groups from the silane coupling agent, as well as between the siloxane bonds and the restoration substrate (38). Due to, the versatility of the substrate application, 10-MDP-containing adhesives may also be suitable for intraoral restoration repairs, since they could be a

practical alternative to bonding different fractured substrates at the same time (61).

Luting cements

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Dental luting agents provide the essential functional link between a fixed

prosthesis and the supporting prepared tooth structure. In general, dental luting

cement's two main functions are to provide a seal and establish or increase

retention of the prosthesis to abutments and to maintain its integrity. To succeed in

both, an ideal material should fulfill specific biological, physio-mechanical, and

handling requirements (62).

Several studies have reported that high stresses can be imposed upon luting cements, most especially in the marginal areas (63), and laboratory fatigue studies have suggested that luting cement microfracture is the initial failure mode that enables the progression to catastrophic failure (64). Accordingly, luting agent failure can be predisposed by the initial setting contraction stresses generated by the cement's adhesion to the tooth structure; this is further amplified in a geometric configuration that provides few opportunities for stress relief by cement flow or

cement flow and plastic deformation (65).

Presently, 5 categories of luting agents are commercially available for

permanent cementation of fixed prostheses: zinc phosphate, polycarboxylate, glass

ionomer, resin-modified glass ionomer (RMGI) andd resin cements. These different

categories are largely physically and chemically unique, with no one luting agent

being ideal for all situations (66).

Resin cements are composites composed of a resin matrix, for example, bis-

GMA or urethane dimethacrylate, and a filler of fine inorganic particles. Resin luting

cements differ from restorative composites primarily in their lower filler content and

lower viscosity. Resin cements have not only excellent aesthetic shade matching

potential, but also better flexural and compressive strength compared with other

dental cements. In terms of shear and tensile bond strength, resin cements are

stronger than other types of cement; the adhesive nature of the resin cements

results in restorations with superior retention and fracture resistance. Moreover,

minimal microleakage and lower water solubility occur with adhesive cementation

(67).

The success of ceramic restorations depends on obtaining a strong, durable bond between the resin cement and dentin/enamel (68). The magnitude of these

bonds is directly proportional to an adequate cement polymerization. Polymerization

is crucial for achieving optimal physical properties and satisfactory clinical

performance of resinous materials. Resin cements can be categorized according to

polymerization type: chemical-cured, light-cured, or dual-cured.
Chemical-cured resin cement, which is mostly used for metallic restoration,

requires a long setting time and has an uncontrollable working time; it is cured

evenly even in clinical situations that the light does not reach the cement material.

In contrast, light-cured cement presents easier removal of excess cement,

and command setting requires no mixing, and therefore, the cement is more

homogenous with reduced porosity. The lack of tertiary amines in the cement

composition provides excellent color stability. However, the porcelain thickness

could prevent complete photopolymerization (68).

About dual-cured resin cements, their polymerization is initiated by light and

chemically and are therefore the materials of choice to lute indirect tooth-colored

restorations with a thickness more than 3 mm (69). When these dual-cured resin

cements are light polymerized, the highest conversion rate is reached (70), with a

consequent increase in the physico-mechanical properties (71).

For cementation of all-ceramic restorations, multi-step systems were used,

requiring etching, priming, bonding and the application of a composite cement. This

complicated procedure resulted in high technique sensitivity. As further

development, one or two bottle systems for dentin bonding were introduced by the

manufacturers. The application of a separate acid-etching step is unnecessary when

using self-etching resin luting agents. These materials have become popular for their

simplicity and because they require fewer procedural steps when compared with

previous systems that used separate acid conditioning and primer/adhesive steps

(67). Most recently the number of application steps was further reduced by the

development of self-adhesive resin cements. The benefit of these materials lies in

the ability to bond dentin without any type of pre-treatment (9).

The monomers in self-adhesive luting agents contain phosphorylated

methacrylates that have the ability to generate self-adhesion. Furthermore, the

presence of phosphoric acid groups within the material creates an acidic bonding

surface environment. The low pH environment that is created provides for

demineralization of the tooth surface, which, in turn, allows for subsequent

penetration of the resin cement into the demineralized bonding surface. Once the

resin cement polymerizes, micromechanical retention is achieved between the

cement and tooth (72).

A number of studies have evaluated the bond strength of self-adhesive resin

cements compared to conventional multi-step luting agents. The results showed

favorable bond strength behavior on dentin, while lower bond strengths were found

on enamel surfaces compared to those provided by multi-step luting agents (9, 73)

It was reported that the adhesive luting technique improved the fracture

resistance of glass ceramic crowns with lower strength values (e.g. feldspathic and

leucite-reinforced glass ceramics), while fracture loads of high-strength ceramics like

zirconia, alumina, lithium disilicate or ZLS were not significantly influenced by the

mode of cementation (4, 74, 75). In contrast, a study by Borges (2009) reported about

a significant increase in fracture load for different ceramic crowns (lithium disilicate,

leucite-reinforced, and glass-infiltrated alumina ceramics) when they were cemented

with a resin cement compared to a resin-modified glass-ionomer cement (76).

Bond strength test

The bond strength of ZLS bonded to tooth structure can be measured by a great number of methods such as tensile bond strength test, flexural bond strength test, or shear bond strength test.

Bond strength tests are the most frequently used tests to screen adhesives. The rationale behind this testing method is that the stronger the adhesion between tooth and biomaterial, the better it will resist stress imposed by resin polymerization and oral function. Different bond strength tests have been developed (77). It is important to note that a bond strength value cannot be considered as a material property. Therefore, the absolute test values cannot be used to draw conclusions from, or be compared with, data gathered in other studies. Only relative study outcomes, in the sense of 'A is better than B', are a valid basis for further interpretation of the results. Nevertheless, bond-strength testing can reveal valuable clinical information, when gathered in a well-controlled design (55). The bond strengths of restorative materials to dental hard tissues is usually reported as the load at failure divided by the cross-sectional area of the bonded interface (F/A). Strength values calculated in this way are referred to as the "nominal strength" values, but this is valid only if the applied load is equally distributed throughout the entire bonded interface. Therefore, a crucial factor in evaluation of the usefulness of a specific bond strength test is a thorough awareness of the stress patterns involved in bond failure (78). Various methods are used to evaluate bond strength, including flexural, tensile, shear, microtensile, and microshear tests (µSBS). The easiest to perform are

shear tests. According to the ISO/TS 11405 standard (2015), the load can be

distributed as in lap-shear or blunt-end shear bar or inter-facial (wire loop in shear).

There is a strong tendency to develop a bending moment in most shear tests (77).

Shear bond strength tests were performed in specimens with relatively large bonded

areas, usually 3-6 mm in diameter (~ 7-28 mm²) (79), However, the validity of

expressing bond strength has been questioned due to the heterogeneity of the stress

distribution at the bonded interface, influence by variability in specimen geometry,

loading conditions and material properties. Thus, the microshear test is preferred and

is practical for testing the bond strength in case a small bonded surface can be

created. Furthermore, this test results in a more uniform stress distribution, resulting

in more reliable data and higher incidence of adhesive failure between the resin

adhesive and dentin interface compared with conventional shear tests (80).

Microshear test was used in the present study because the specimens were

prepared without trimming, thus reducing the formation of structural defects such as

microcracks, which might cause premature failure. Furthermore, the microshear test

was a better representation of the forces clinically experienced by a restoration (81,

82).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research design

This study was an in vitro experimental study. The interventions of this study

were kinds of adhesive agents following, three-step etch-and-rinse adhesive, universal

adhesive and self-adhesive resin luting cement in bonding of ZLS (Vita Suprinity[®],

fired-Celtra® Duo and unfired-Celtra® Duo) to tooth structure. Dependent variable was

the microshear bond strength measured in MPa, when the specimens was cracked or

fractured.

Research methodology



ZLS, zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramics; VS, Vita Suprinity[®]; CD, Celtra[®] Duo;

FCD, Fired-Celtra® Duo; UCD, Unifired-Celtra® Duo; SM, Scotchbond™ Multi-purpose;

SU, Single Bond Universal; U2, RelyX[™] Unicem; µSBS, microshear bond strength.

Sample size description

Sample size was calculated by using the formula for two independent groups

shown below;

$$n = \frac{(Z_{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}} + Z_{1-\beta})^2 [\sigma_1^2 + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{r}]}{(\mu_1 - \mu_2)^2}$$
$$r = \frac{n_2}{n_1}$$

n is sample size estimation (per group).

 Z_{α} is the value of the standardized score cutting off $\alpha/2$ proportion of each

tail of a standard normal distribution (for a two-tailed hypothesis test) (Z $_{lpha}$ =1.96 for lpha

 $Z\beta$ is the value of the standardized score cutting off the upper proportion ($Z\beta$

= 0.84 for β = 0.2 = 80% power).

 $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ is mean of microshear bond strength in each group.

 σ is standard deviation of microshear bond strength in each group.

The mean and standard deviation values for calculation were obtained from

the results of previous published articles, which had experimental design using

microshear bond strength testing of the adhesive luting agents to dentin (12, 83).

The highest number of specimen was calculated from values of microshear

bond strength of Scotchbond $^{\rm TM}$ Multipurpose adhesive system and Single Bond

Universal adhesive system as shown in the equation below:

$$n_{1} = \frac{(Z_{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}} + Z_{1-\beta})^{2} [\sigma_{1}^{2} + \frac{\sigma_{2}^{2}}{r}]}{(\mu_{1} - \mu_{2})^{2}}$$

$$n_{1} = (1.96 + 0.84)^{2} [9.92 + 5.90] / (24.9 - 24.82)^{2}$$

$$n_{1} = (7.84) [15.82] / (0.0064)$$

$$n_{1} = 19379.5$$

12 numbers of specimens in each group were selected for this study, due to

the limitation of time, budget and the number of 19380 specimens was too high for this study. There were 9 experimental groups in this study so the total number of specimens was 108 specimens.

Table 1. Mean microshear bond strength and standard deviation from previous

Adhes	sive agents					
		μ_1	${\boldsymbol\sigma}_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$	μ_2	σ_{2}	n
cor	nparison					
<u> </u>	CLI	24.00	2 1 5	24.02	0.42	10270 5/
SM	SU	24.90	3.15	24.82	2.43	19379.56
SU	112	24.82	2.13	20.18	2 01	3.62
30		24.02	2.45	20.10	2.01	J.0Z
U2	SM	20.18	2.01	24.90	3.15	4.91
-		ATA		, 0	0.10	

published articles and sample size calculation

SM, Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose; SU, Single Bond Universal; U2, RelyX[™] Unicem; n,

sample size estimation; μ , mean of microshear bond strength in each group; $\pmb{\sigma}$ is

standard deviation of microshear bond strength in each group.

36

Materials

Table 2. Datasheet of ceramics used

Material	Composition	Crystallization/ additional firing
(manufacturer)		process
Vita Suprinity®	SiO ₂ , Li ₂ O, K ₂ O, P ₂ O ₅ ,	Crystallization in furnace (Programat
(Vita Zahnfabrick, Bad	Al ₂ O ₃ , ZrO ₂ , CeO ₂ ,	P700, Ivoclar Vivadent) at 840°C for
Sackingen)	pigments	20 mins.
fired-Celtra [®] Duo	SiO ₂ , Li ₂ O, K ₂ O, P ₂ O ₅ ,	Additionally fired in furnace
(Dentsply Sirona)	Al ₂ O ₃ , ZrO ₂ , CeO ₂ , pigments	(Programat P700, Ivoclar Vivadent) at 820°C for 8 mins.
unfired- Celtra® Duo	SiO ₂ , Li ₂ O, K ₂ O, P ₂ O ₅ ,	No additional firing.
(Dentsply Sirona)	Al ₂ O ₃ , ZrO ₂ , CeO ₂ ,	
	pigments	

Adhesive	Manufacturers/	Composition
systems	Batch number	
Scotchbond™	3M ESPE/	Etchant: 35% phosphoric acid
Multi-purpose	N851438	Primer: Polyalkenoic acid copolymer HEMA,
		water
		Adhesive: Bis-GMA, HEMA, tertiary amines,
		photo-initiator.
Single Bond	3M ESPE/	10-MDP, Bis-GMA, phosphate monomer,
Universal	651936	dimethacrylate resins, HEMA, methacrylate-
		modified polyalkenoic acid copolymer, filler,
		ethanol, water, initiators, silane-treated silica
RelyX [™] Ultimate	3M ESPE/	Base paste: methacrylate monomers,
	662726	radiopaque silanated fillers, initiator, stabilizer,
		rheological additives
		Catalyst paste: methacrylate monomers,
		radiopaque alkaline (basic) fillers, initiator,
		stabilizer, pigments, rheological additives,
		fluorescence dye, dark cure activator for Single
		Bond Universal
RelyX [™] Unicem	3M ESPE/	Powder: glass powder, silica, calcium hydroxide,
	652453	pigment, substituted pyrimidine, peroxy
		compound, initiator
		Liquid: methacrylated phosphoric ester,
		dimethacrylate, acetate, stabilizer, initiator

Apparatus

Table 4. Instrument used in this study

Instrument	Manufacturer
Low-Speed Cutting Machine (Isomet [®] 1000)	Buehler Ltd., Lake Bluff, IL, USA
Ceramic furnace	Programat P700, Ivoclar Vivadent
Automatic temperature checking set (ATK2)	Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein
Universal Testing Machine (EZ-S Shimadzu)	Shimadzu, Japan
Grinder-Polisher Machine (Automet [®] 250)	Buehler, USA
Durometer, ASTM D 2240 Type A	PTC Instrument, USA
Diamond Wafering Blade	Buehler, USA
Rotomix CHULALONGKORN UN	3M ESPE, USA
LED Light-Curing System: Demi [™] Plus	Kerr, USA
Radiometer: Model 100 Optilux	Kerr, USA
Stereomicroscope: ML 9300	MEIJI, Japan
Incubator: Contherm 160M	Contherm, New Zealand

Experimental groups and their details

 Table 5. Description of groups according to variables

Group	Method
VSSM	VS + 4.5% HF (20 s) + ceramic primer + SM Adhesive + RXU
	Dentin + 35% H_3PO_4 + SM Primer/Adhesive
VSSU	VS + 4.5% HF (20 s) + SU + RXU
	Dentin + SU
VSU2	VS + 4.5% HF (20 s) + ceramic primer + U2
	Dentin without any adhesive agent application
FCDSM	FCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + ceramic primer + SM Adhesive + RXU
	Dentin + 35% H_3PO_4 + SM Primer/Adhesive
FCDSU	FCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + SU + RXU
	Dentin + SU
FCDU2	FCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + ceramic primer + U2
	Dentin without any adhesive agent application
UCDSM	UCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + ceramic primer + SM Adhesive + RXU
	Dentin + 35% H_3PO_4 + SM Primer/Adhesive
UCDSU	UCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + SU + RXU
	Dentin + SU
UCDU2	UCD + 4.5% HF (30 s) + ceramic primer + U2
	Dentin without any adhesive agent application

VS, Vita Suprinity[®]; FCD, fired-Celtra[®] Duo; UCD, unfired-Celtra[®] Duo; SM, Scotchbond[™] Multi-

purpose; SU, Single Bond Universal; U2, RelyX[™] Unicem; RXU, RelyX[™] Ultimate; HF, hydrofluoric

acid; H₃PO_{4,} phosphoric acid.

Definition of specimen groups

Group VSSM: The polished surface of Vita Suprinity[®] (VS, VITA Zahnfabrik)

microbars was etched with 4.5% hydrofluoric acid (HF, IPS ceramic etching; Ivoclar

Vivadent) for 20 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, etched ceramics

were cleaned in the ultrasonic bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. After

that, RelyX[™] Ceramic Primer (3M ESPE, USA) was applied at the etched surface, let

react for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose (SM) Adhesive (3M

ESPE, USA) was applied uniformly creating a thin coating for 15 s.

While, prepared dentin was applied with the 35% phosphoric acid etching gel

(Scotchbond $^{\rm TM}$ Etchant, 3M ESPE, USA) and allowed to react for 15 s. Then rinsed

thoroughly with water for 15 s and blot dried with foam pellets. Scotchbond[™] Multi-

purpose (SM) Primer (3M ESPE, USA) was applied at etched dentin with a light

scrubbing motion for 15 s. Then a gentle stream of air over the liquid until the

solvent had evaporated completely. SM Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a

thin coating for 15 s and light-curing for 20 s. The resin cement, RelyX[™] Ultimate

(RXU, 3M ESPE, USA), was applied copiously to the ceramics using the auto-mix syringe.

Group VSSU: The polished surface of VS microbars was etched with 4.5% HF

for 20 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic bath

with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. Single Bond Universal (SU, 3M ESPE, USA)

was applied at both dentin which was moist and the etched surface for 20 s.

Subsequently, a gentle stream of air over the liquid until the solvent had evaporated

completely. Light-curing for 20 s to dentin. RXU was applied copiously to the

ceramics.

Group VSU2: The polished surface of VS microbars was etched with 4.5% HF

for 20 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic bath

with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. After that, RelyX[™] Ceramic Primer was

applied at the etched surface, let react for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. RelyX[™] Unicem

(U2, 3M ESPE, USA) was dispensed directly on etched ceramics using the applicator.

Group FCDSM: The polished surface of fired-Celtra[®] Duo (FCD, Dentsply

Sirona) microbars was etched with 4.5% HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s.

Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-

dried. After that, RelyX[™] Ceramic Primer was applied at the etched surface, let react

for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. SM Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a thin

coating for 15 s.

While, prepared dentin was applied with the 35% phosphoric acid etching gel

and allowed to react for 15 s. Then rinsed thoroughly with water for 15 s and blot

dried. SM Primer was applied at etched dentin with a light scrubbing motion for 15

s. Then a gentle stream of air over the liquid until the solvent had evaporated

completely. SM Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a thin coating for 15 s and

light-curing for 20 s. RXU was applied copiously to the ceramics.

Group FCDSU: The polished surface of FCD microbars was etched with 4.5%

HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic

bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. SU was applied at both dentin which

was moist and the etched surface for 20 s. Then a gentle stream of air over the

liquid until the solvent had evaporated completely. Light-curing for 20 s to dentin.

RXU was applied copiously to the ceramics.

Group FCDU2: The polished surface of FCD microbars was etched with 4.5%

HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic

bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. After that, RelyXTM Ceramic Primer

was applied at the etched surface, let react for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. U2 was

applied copiously to the etched ceramics.

Group UCDSM: The polished surface of unfired-Celtra® Duo (UCD, Dentsply

Sirona) microbars was etched with 4.5% HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s.

Chulalongkorn University

Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-

dried. After that, RelyXTM Ceramic Primer was applied at the etched surface, let react

for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. SM Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a thin

coating for 15 s.

While, prepared dentin was applied with the 35% phosphoric acid etching gel

and allowed to react for 15 s. Then rinsed thoroughly with water for 15 s and blot

dry. SM Primer was applied at etched dentin with a light scrubbing motion for 15 s.

Then a gentle stream of air over the liquid until it the solvent had evaporated

completely. SM Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a thin coating for 15 s and

light-curing for 20 s. RXU was applied copiously to the ceramics.

Group UCDSU: The polished surface of UCD microbars was etched with 4.5%

HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently cleaned in the ultrasonic

bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. SU was applied at both dentin which

was moist and the etched surface for 20 s. A gentle stream of air over the liquid until

the solvent had evaporated completely. Light-curing for 20 s to dentin. RXU was

applied copiously to the ceramics.

Group UCDU2: The polished surface of UCD microbars was etched with 4.5%

HF for 30 s and rinsed with water for 60 s. Subsequently, cleaned in the ultrasonic

bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried. After that, RelyXTM Ceramic Primer

was applied at the etched surface, let react for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. U2 was

applied copiously to the etched ceramics.

Possible Impediments and Solutions

In order to control the quality of bonding technique, one researcher

performed the whole procedure as listed cutting specimen, bonding procedure,

microshear bond strength test.

Methods

Tooth Selection

A total of 108 human first premolars, extracted for orthodontic purposes and

stored in 0.1% thymol solution at 4°C no longer than 2 months after extraction, were

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

selected (84). The teeth were analyzed using a stereomicroscope (ML 9300 MEIJI) at

4× magnification using the following selection criteria: no caries or previous

restorations, no cracks, and the presence of completely formed apexes. After the

selection process, residual soft tissue was removed by hand scaling.

Tooth preparation

Then, each tooth was embedded in a polyvinyl chloride tube, 2.2 cm in diameter and 2.2 cm in height, leaving the cemento-enamel junction at the top surface of acrylic resin base (Trey Resin II, Shofu). 2.0 mm thick occlusal portion underneath the central pit of all teeth was removed by means of a water-cooled precision diamond saw (Isomet 1000 Precision Saw, Buehler) to expose flat deep dentin surface. In the case of pulp exposure being detected, the tooth would be rejected.

Deep dentin surface then underwent grinding using a 600-grit silicon carbide paper at 100 rpm for 30 s to produce standard smear layer, which was comparable to bur-cut dentin surface (85-87). The grit silicon carbide paper was changed after grinding of 10 dentin specimens. Cementation area at the center of dentin specimen was defined and isolated to a $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^2$ by means of perforated Teflon tape. After that, all teeth were randomly divided into 9 groups (n=12 per group).



Figure 3. Grinder-Polisher Machine (AutoMet[®] 250)



Figure 4. Deep dentin surface underwent grinding using a 600-grit silicon carbide



Figure 5. Preparation of dentin specimen



Figure 6. A) Prepared tooth after polishing in a polyvinyl chloride tube at top view

B) Prepared tooth after polishing in a polyvinyl chloride tube at proximal view

Ceramic microbar preparation

ZLS in the form of CAD/CAM ceramic ingots (shade A2) were cut into 36

microbars for VS and 72 microbars for CD in the dimensions of 1×1×3 mm³, using a

diamond saw. The automatic temperature checking set (ATK2) was used to check

and adjust the firing temperatures in furnace with automatic calibration program for

the ATK2 system before firing the ceramics.

For VS, all the ceramic microbars were crystallized in a ceramic furnace

(Programat P700, Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein) according to the

manufacturer's instruction. The starting temperature was 400°C and holding time at

the initial temperature was 8 minutes. The heating rate was 55°C/minute to reach

crystallization temperature, 840°C. After that, the temperature was held for 8

minutes. Finally, the ending temperature was 680°C.

For CD, 32 microbars were additionally fired in a ceramic furnace according to

the manufacturer's instruction to increase the material's flexural strength to 370

MPa. The starting temperature was 500°C and heating rate was 55°C/minute to reach

the final temperature, 820°C. After that the temperature was held for 1 minute and

30 second and cooled for 3 minutes. Later on, the bonding area of each microbar

was definitely measured using a stereomicroscope.

Top face of each ceramic microbar was polished with 120-, 240-, 400-, 600grit silicon carbide paper respectively at 100 rpm under running water for 10 s per item. This step simulated the preparation of ceramic surface with a medium-coarse

diamond bur following with fine diamond (88). The grit silicon carbide paper was

changed after grinding of 10 ceramic microbars.



Figure 7. Preparation of ZLS microbars



Figure 8. Ceramic furnace (Programat P700, Ivoclar Vivadent)

Surface pre-treatment and cementation procedures

The polished surfaces of VS, FCD and UCD were etched with 4.5%

hydrofluoric acid (HF) (IPS ceramic etching; Ivoclar Vivadent) for 20, 30, and 30 s

respectively. The etched surfaces were then thoroughly rinsed with water for 60 s,

cleaned in an ultrasonic bath with 98 % alcohol for 3 mins and air-dried.

Then, the etched ZLS ceramics were randomly assigned into 9 groups (n=12

per group) following 3 kinds of adhesive resin luting cements: SM, SU and U2 (Table

5).

For groups VSSM, VSU2, FCDSM, FCDU2, UCDSM, and UCDU2, ceramic primer

(RelyX[™] Ceramic Primer, 3M ESPE) was applied to the etched ceramic microbars,

to react for (0 c, and air dried for 5 c. After that only in gray

allowed to react for 60 s, and air dried for 5 s. After that, only in groups VSSM,

FCDSM, and UCDSM, Scotchbond $^{\rm TM}$ Multi-purpose (SM) Adhesive (3M ESPE) was

applied uniformly creating a thin coating. Meanwhile, 35% phosphoric acid etching

gel (Etchant, 3M ESPE) was applied to prepared dentin, and allowed to react for 15 s

before rinsing thoroughly with water for 15 s and blot drying with foam pellets. The

surface was shiny and did not have any puddles on it. After that, SM Primer (3M

ESPE) was applied at the etched dentin with a light scrubbing motion for 15 s. Then a

gentle stream of air was blown over the liquid for about 5 s until no further

movement was observed, and the solvent had evaporated completely. Then, SM

Adhesive was applied uniformly creating a thin coating with a brushing motion for 15

s and light-curing for 20 s.

For groups VSSU, FCDSU, and UCDSU, Single Bond Universal (SU, 3M ESPE)

was applied and rubbed to the moist prepared dentin, and etched ceramics for 20 s.

Then, a gentle stream of air was blown over the liquid for about 5 s until no further

movement could be observed, and the solvent had evaporated completely. Light-

curing for 20 s to the dentin followed. Then, for groups VSSM, VSSU, FCDSM, FCDSU,

UCDSM and UCDSU, the resin cement RelyX[™] Ultimate (RXU, 3M ESPE) was applied

copiously to etched ceramics using auto-mix syringe.

For the groups VSU2, FCDU2, and UCDU2, the RelyX[™] Unicem (U2, 3M ESPE)

capsule was activated and mixed for 10 s (Rotomix, 3M ESPE). Then, cement was

dispensed directly on to the etched ceramics.

Subsequently, each ceramic microbar with the resin cement on top was

positioned on each prepared dentin surface under a constant load of 1 kg placed on

top using a custom-made loading device (Durometer, ASTM D 2240 Type A, PTC

Instrument) (89). Excess material was removed with a brush tip.

In this study, an LED light-curing system (Demi Plus, Kerr Coperation, Orange,

CA, USA) with 1,100 mW/cm² intensity was utilized. The light guide was held

perpendicularly and within 1 mm away from ceramic slabs for 20 s per surface. Then,

the load was removed and the specimen was additionally light-cured from the top

during 20 s (100 s light-curing in total). After that, the specimens were left for 10 mins

and the perforated Teflon tapes were removed (90).

The light output from the light-polymerizing unit was tested every 10

specimens to check for intensity of light output using a radiometer (Model 100

Optilux, Kerr Coperation, Orange, CA, USA) throughout the experiment.



Figure 9. Cementation of the ceramic microbar to dentin specimen



Figure 10. ZLS microbar cemented to dentin specimen



Aleccord-parameter

Figure 11. Durometer (ASTM D 2240 Type A, PTC Instrument, USA)

All specimens were then examined under a stereomicroscope at 25×

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

magnification to verify that no bonding defects, air bubble inclusions, interfacial gaps,

or excess cement could be observed. If the excess cement was found, Blade No. 11

was used to remove it and changed every specimen. All specimens were

subsequently stored in distilled water at 37°C in an incubator (Contherm 160M,

Contherm Scientific Ltd., New Zealand) for 24 hours.

Microshear bond strength testing (µSBS)

All specimens were subjected to µSBS testing. Each polyvinyl chloride tube

with a ZLS microbar was placed horizontally on a support base so that the ceramic

microbar was unsupported. The adhesive interface was parallel to the shearing force.

Later on, the axial load with a 5-N load cell at a crosshead speed of 0.5 mm/min was

applied by a blunt blade at the dentin/adhesive interface, as close to the surface of

the tooth as possible, until fracture of the specimen occurred as shown in Figure 13

(91). The maximum force (Fmax (N)) was recorded. The μ SBS values (MPa) were

calculated by Fmax (N) / bonding area (mm²); bonding area measured by

stereomicroscope = width \times length (mm²) resulting in 12 µSBS values per group for

statistical analysis.



Figure 12. Universal testing machine (EZ-S Shimadzu, Japan)



Figure 13. A) Microshear bond strength testing at proximal view

B) Microshear bond strength testing at frontal view

Failure Mode Analysis

After debonding, the specimens were examined under a stereomicroscope at

a magnification of 40× to verify failure type. Failure types were classified as shown in

Table 6 (92-94).

Table 6. Types of failure	
Туре	Character
Adhesive failure between	Where resin cement completely remained on top
cement and ceramic	of dentin surface
Adhesive failure between	Where resin cement completely remained on
cement and dentin	ceramic surface
Cohesive failure in luting	Where remnants of resin cement partially
cement	remained on both dentin and ceramic surface
Cohesive failure in dentin	The failure was within dentin
Cohesive failure in ceramic	The failure was within the ceramic
Mixed failure	Failure at the cement and adhesive interface
	including cohesive failure of the neighboring
	substrates

Data Collection and Analysis

All data were collected and analyzed using a statistical software (IBM $^{\textcircled{B}}$ SPSS $^{\textcircled{B}}$

20, SPSS, Chicago, IL). The normality of the data was determined using the

Kolmogorov-Smirnov test (K-S test). Two-way analysis of variance (two-way ANOVA)

was used to statistically analyze the effects of ceramic materials, adhesive luting

cements, and their interactions on the mean µSBS values. Moreover, a Tukey post-

hoc multiple comparison test was performed to determine difference among means.

Significance level was set at $P \leq .05$.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

There was no pre-test failure before or during the microshear bond strength testing. The K-S test indicated that the data were normally distributed. Mean and standard deviation of the tested groups were in the range of 7.63 ± 4.55 MPa (VSU2) to 38.02 ± 8.54 MPa (VSSM) as shown in Figure 14 and Table 8. Two-way ANOVA revealed that type of ZLS did not have a statistically significant influence on µSBS values of ZLS bonded to dentin (P=.699) (Table 7). On the other hand, kind of adhesive resin luting cements and their interaction did have a statistically significant effect on mean µSBS at P<.001 and .002 respectively (Table 7). According to Tukey post-hoc test, all ZLS bonded to dentin with SM and SU showed comparable mean μ SBS (P=.066) (Table 8), although ZLS had the tendency to give the highest value when using SM. Meanwhile, ZLS cemented to dentin using U2 had a statistically significantly lower mean µSBS value compared to the ceramic bonded with SM and SU except in the case of UCDU2 which did not have a statistically significantly different μ SBS value from UCDSU (*P*=.478) (Table 8).


Figure 14. Microshear bond strength values (mean (MPa) \pm SD) and statistical

comparison of different groups

Values with the same superscript letters indicate no significant differences between

groups. SD indicated by vertical bar. VS, Vita Suprinity[®]; FCD, fired-Celtra[®] Duo; UCD,

unfired-Celtra[®] Duo; SM, ScotchbondTM Multi-purpose; SU, Single Bond Universal; U2,

RelyX[™] Unicem.

Source of	df	Sum of	Mean square	F	Р
variation		squares			
ZLS factor	2	61.887	30.943	.359	.699
Adhesive factor	2	12856.577	6428.289	74.635	<.001
Interaction	4	1543.408	385.852	4.480	.002

 Table 7. Two-way ANOVA reveals the significant effects of adhesive luting and the interaction factor

ANOVA, Analysis of variance; ZLS, zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramics.



-		Tukey HSD Subset	
Group	1	2	3
VSU2	7.63 ± 4.55		
FCDU2	7.69 ± 4.18	5111122	
UCDU2	18.43 ± 8.96	18.43 ± 8.96	
UCDSU		26.40 ± 8.40	26.40 ± 8.40
FCDSU			31.63 ± 9.17
UCDSM			34.41 ± 9.09
VSSU			36.33 ± 11.02
FCDSM	8		37.09 ± 15.01
VSSM	จุฬาลงก	รณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	38.02 ± 8.54
Sig.	.114 ULALON	GKORN L478/ERSITY	.066

Table 8. Microshear bond strength values [mean (MPa) \pm SD] and statistical

comparison of different groups

VS, Vita Suprinity[®]; FCD, fired-Celtra[®] Duo; UCD, unfired-Celtra[®] Duo; SM,

Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose; SU, Single Bond Universal; U2, RelyX[™] Unicem. Means

for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed. The data are based on observed

means. The error term is mean square (error) = 86.130. The harmonic mean sample

size = 12.000. α =.05



Figure 15. Failure mode percentages of all groups

VS, Vita Suprinity[®]; FCD, fired-Celtra[®] Duo; UCD, unfired-Celtra[®] Duo; SM,

Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose; SU, Single Bond Universal; U2, RelyX[™] Unicem.



Figure 16. A), B) Cohesive failure in luting cement at ZLS and tooth-side

C), D) Adhesive failure between cement and dentin at ZLS and tooth-side

E), F) Adhesive failure between cement and ceramic at ZLS and tooth-side

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Discussion

This study was conducted to investigate 24-hour µSBS of a three-step etch-

and-rinse bonding system, a universal adhesive and a self-adhesive resin luting

cement on ZLS bonded to dentin, and whether or not the distinct forms of ZLS

could affect the bond strength. The first null hypothesis was rejected because

different kinds of adhesive luting system had a statistically significant effect on mean

µSBS whereas the other was accepted.

Mean µSBS values of Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose and Single Bond Universal

were comparable regardless of kind of ZLS bonded to dentin (P=.066). The reason of

high µSBS obtained from Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose, which is a three-step etch-

and-rinse adhesive, may be due to the effect of etching dentin by phosphoric acid

that removed smear layer and smear plug. This phenomenon resulted in a higher

dentin demineralization effect, surface roughness, wettability, and ionization of the

acidic monomers of the adhesive resin or the resin cement, thus the total etch

adhesive system probably created a suitable pattern of dentin hybridization (95-97).

However, the important issue, which was mostly related to the etching step, was that

the proper amount of moisture was required to prevent collagen collapse of

demineralized dentin before primer/adhesive application (46, 97).

Single Bond Universal comprised a various composition that mixed different functional components, including water, ethanol and silane into the solution (98). In a previous investigation, it was hypothesized that without removing the smear layer and to incorporate it into the adhesive interface, penetration of resin monomers and bonding effectiveness of this class of adhesive could be compromized (99). Previous studies showed that adhesives which included silane in the composition were not effective to bond lithium disilicate with resin composite (41, 100). In agreement with earlier studies, it was reported that the presence of silane, which had an optimal working pH range of about 4 to 5, in the solution of this adhesive, which had pH value of 2.7 to 3.0, impaired the quality of the adhesive interface, and underwent premature self-condensation reactions (38, 91). On the other hand, the dihydrogen phosphate group of 10-MDP in this adhesive was responsible for reaction that led to

creation of ionic bond with calcium ions of hydroxyapatite, and formation a nano-

layering structure of MDP-Ca salt at the adhesive interface (58, 101). Meanwhile, the

long hydrophobic carboxyl chain of this functional monomer copolymerized with

resin monomers of the resin cement and provided hydrolytic stability of the bonding

interface (60). Moreover, 10-MDP was proven to offer a bond-mediating capacity to

zirconia (102, 103). Hydrophilic phosphate terminal end of this functional monomer

has been claimed to interact chemically with the oxide of zirconia in ZLS creating

high bond strength comparable to Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose in this study.

ZLS bonded to dentin using RelyX[™] Unicem had a statistically significantly

lower mean μSBS than other adhesive luting agents in this study. This was in

agreement with the previous study by Rojpaibool, T. and Leevailoj, C., who

concluded that glass ceramics bonded to the tooth structure using etch-and-rinse

adhesive resin cements achieved higher significant fracture loads than self-adhesive

resin cements (104). Also, in the earlier study by Peumans, M. et al, it was found that

Celtra® Duo bonded to self-etch adhesive resin luting cement had higher µTBS than

self-adhesive resin cement (105). This phenomenon was explained by the fact that

high viscosity, a short interaction time at the cement/dentin interface before light

curing, and a lack of dentin demineralization caused incomplete resin infiltration

observed in both TEM and SEM (9, 106, 107). As seen in this study, most failure

modes occurred in groups of ZLS bonded with RelyXTM Unicem with 100% adhesive

failure between cement and dentin.

In the present study, distinct forms of ZLS had no significant effect on µSBS

of these ceramics cemented to dentin using different resin luting agents. This

phenomenon can be explained by the fact that the manufacturers cooperated with

the Fraunhofer Institute for Silicate Research (ISC) in Würzburg, Germany to launch

Vita Suprinity[®] and Celtra[®] Duo for which the structure and chemical composition

were similar. The ceramics comprised round and slightly elongated lithium-

metasilicate (Li₂SiO₃) crystals, round lithium orthophosphate (Li₃PO₄) granules, and

were reinforced with about 10% zirconium dioxide (ZrO₂) so that the ceramics could

be pretreated by HF, silanized then bonded by adhesive resin luting cement (108-

110).

According to the finite element analysis, it was concluded that shear bond strength (SBS) testing in large bonded areas had been associated with the development of heterogeneity of stress distributed along tested interfaces, and had a greater tendency to produce cohesive failures leading to misinterpretation of the results (111, 112). In this present investigation, the μ SBS test was used rather than SBS to evaluate bond strength at dentin-ceramic interface because small-sized cementation area created a more uniform distribution of loading stress, and lower probability of encountering a flaw at the interface than large-sized bonded area (80, 81). Moreover, all of the failure modes were observed at the adhesive interface and in luting cement, therefore, the value measured when specimen cracked represented a more reliable µSBS. In previous study comparing wire loop and blade method for µSBS testing, it was found that if the force was loaded at a contact point between the blade and interface, it created a less even uniformity of shear force (111, 113).

That was the reason why cross-section of microbar of ZLS was prepared as a

rectangular area in this study. When the blade touches the interface, shear force is

loaded at the contact area, consequently creating more uniform loading stress.

Furthermore, no pretest failure was found because the microbars of ZLS were

prepared before cementation. Thus, the occurrence of structural defects from

trimming after the adhesive procedure in specimen preparation was reduced.

From the perspective of the clinician, this present study showed that

Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing etch-and-rinse adhesive

system, and Single Bond Universal with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing self-etch adhesive

system significantly achieved greater μ SBS than RelyXTM Unicem self-adhesive luting

system.

Limitations

1. This study investigated only one ceramic system (ZLS), 2 kinds of adhesive

Chulalongkorn University

agents and luting cements. Therefore, the results from this study might not

be inferred to other adhesive and ceramic systems.

2. This result might not be inferred to real clinical situation because only 24-

hour µSBS test was performed.

Suggested further studies

This study investigated 24-hour bond strength of ZLS cemented to dentin

with different adhesive luting systems. Further studies should be carried out to test

the bond strength and fatigue failure load of ZLS under different aging conditions

and adhesive situations.

Conclusions

Under the conditions of this in vitro study, the following conclusions can be

drawn:

1. Etch-and-rinse and universal adhesive resin luting systems used to bond

ZLS to dentin perform well rather than self-adhesive resin cement.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

2. The different forms of ZLS comparably achieved microshear bond strength

when they were bonded to dentin using resin luting cements.

Clinical implication

Resin cement used with etch-and-rinse and universal adhesive agents are

recommended to be used for cementation of ZLS to dentin, rather than using self-

adhesive resin cement.

Declaration of Conflicting Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

REFERENCES



Chulalongkorn University

1. Fasbinder DJ. Clinical performance of chairside CAD/CAM restorations. Journal of the American Dental Association. 2006;137 Suppl:22S-31S.

2. Ferrari M, Giovannetti A, Carrabba M, Bonadeo G, Rengo C, Monticelli F, et al. Fracture resistance of three porcelain-layered CAD/CAM zirconia frame designs. Dental Materials. 2014;30(7):e163-8.

3. Sato TP, Anami LC, Melo RM, Valandro LF, Bottino MA. Effects of surface treatments on the bond strength between resin cement and a new zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic. Operative Dentistry. 2016;41(3):284-92.

4. Preis V, Behr M, Hahnel S, Rosentritt M. Influence of cementation on in vitro performance, marginal adaptation and fracture resistance of CAD/CAM-fabricated ZLS molar crowns. Dental Materials. 2015;31(11):1363-9.

5. Seabra B, Arantes-Oliveira S, Portugal J. Influence of multimode universal adhesives and zirconia primer application techniques on zirconia repair. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2014;112(2):182-7.

6. Yoshida F, Tsujimoto A, Ishii R, Nojiri K, Takamizawa T, Miyazaki M, et al. Influence of surface treatment of contaminated lithium disilicate and leucite glass ceramics on surface free energy and bond strength of universal adhesives. Dental Materials Journal. 2015;34(6):855-62.

 Ferracane JL, Stansbury JW, Burke FJ. Self-adhesive resin cements - chemistry, properties and clinical considerations. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 2011;38(4):295-314.

 8. Radovic I, Monticelli F, Goracci C, Vulicevic ZR, Ferrari M. Self-adhesive resin cements: a literature review. The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry. 2008;10(4):251-8.
 9. De Munck J, Vargas M, Van Landuyt K, Hikita K, Lambrechts P, Van Meerbeek B. Bonding of an auto-adhesive luting material to enamel and dentin. Dental Materials. 2004;20(10):963-71.

10. Shin YJ, Shin Y, Yi YA, Kim J, Lee IB, Cho BH, et al. Evaluation of the shear bond strength of resin cement to Y-TZP ceramic after different surface treatments. Scanning. 2014;36(5):479-86.

11. Yi YA, Ahn JS, Park YJ, Jun SH, Lee IB, Cho BH, et al. The effect of sandblasting and different primers on shear bond strength between yttria-tetragonal zirconia

polycrystal ceramic and a self-adhesive resin cement. Operative Dentistry. 2015;40(1):63-71.

12. Lee Y, Kim JH, Woo JS, Yi YA, Hwang JY, Seo DG. Analysis of self-adhesive resin cement microshear bond strength on leucite-reinforced glass-ceramic with/without pure silane primer or universal adhesive surface treatment. BioMed research international. 2015;2015:361893.

13. Sjogren G, Lantto R, Granberg A, Sundstrom BO, Tillberg A. Clinical examination of leucite-reinforced glass-ceramic crowns (Empress) in general practice: a retrospective study. The International Journal of Prosthodontics. 1999;12(2):122-8.

14. Heffernan MJ, Aquilino SA, Diaz-Arnold AM, Haselton DR, Stanford CM, Vargas MA. Relative translucency of six all-ceramic systems. Part I: core materials. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2002;88(1):4-9.

15. Fischer H, Marx R. Fracture toughness of dental ceramics: comparison of bending and indentation method. Dental Materials. 2002;18(1):12-9.

16. Van Dijken JW. All-ceramic restorations: classification and clinical evaluations. Compendium of Continuing Education in Dentistry. 1999;20(12):1115-24, 26.

17. Dong JK, Luthy H, Wohlwend A, Scharer P. Heat-pressed ceramics: technology and strength. The International Journal of Prosthodontics. 1992;5(1):9-16.

18. Rosenblum MA, Schulman A. A review of all-ceramic restorations. Journal of the American Dental Association. 1997;128(3):297-307.

19. Holand W, Schweiger M, Frank M, Rheinberger V. A comparison of the microstructure and properties of the IPS Empress 2 and the IPS Empress glass-ceramics. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research. 2000;53(4):297-303.

20. Oh SC, Dong JK, Luthy H, Scharer P. Strength and microstructure of IPS Empress 2 glass-ceramic after different treatments. The International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2000;13(6):468-72.

21. Stappert CF, Att W, Gerds T, Strub JR. Fracture resistance of different partialcoverage ceramic molar restorations: an in vitro investigation. Journal of the American Dental Association. 2006;137(4):514-22. 22. Conrad HJ, Seong WJ, Pesun IJ. Current ceramic materials and systems with clinical recommendations: a systematic review. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2007;98(5):389-404.

23. Coldea A, Swain MV, Thiel N. Mechanical properties of polymer-infiltratedceramic-network materials. Dental Materials. 2013;29(4):419-26.

24. Traini T, Sinjari B, Pascetta R, Serafini N, Perfetti G, Trisi P, et al. The zirconiareinforced lithium silicate ceramic: lights and shadows of a new material. Dental Materials Journal. 2016;35(5):748-55.

25. Zimmermann M, Koller C, Mehl A, Hickel R. Indirect zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic CAD/CAM restorations: preliminary clinical results after 12 months. Quintessence International. 2017;48(1):19-25.

26. Qeblawi DM, Munoz CA, Brewer JD, Monaco EA, Jr. The effect of zirconia surface treatment on flexural strength and shear bond strength to a resin cement. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2010;103(4):210-20.

27. Rinke S, Pabel AK, Rodiger M, Ziebolz D. Chairside Fabrication of an All-Ceramic Partial Crown Using a Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate Ceramic. Case Reports in Dentistry. 2016; 2016:1354186

28. Guazzato M, Albakry M, Ringer SP, Swain MV. Strength, fracture toughness and microstructure of a selection of all-ceramic materials. Part II. Zirconia-based dental ceramics. Dental Materials. 2004;20(5):449-56.

29. Gorman CM, Horgan K, Dollard RP, Stanton KT. Effects of repeated processing on the strength and microstructure of a heat-pressed dental ceramic. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2014;112(6):1370-6.

30. Coldea A, Swain MV, Thiel N. In-vitro strength degradation of dental ceramics and novel PICN material by sharp indentation. Journal of The Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials. 2013;26:34-42.

31. Garrido MA, Giraldez I, Ceballos L, Rodriguez J. On the possibility of estimating the fracture toughness of enamel. Dental Materials. 2014;30(11):1224-33.

32. Waltimo A, Nystrom M, Kononen M. Bite force and dentofacial morphology in men with severe dental attrition. Scandinavian Journal of Dental Research. 1994;102(2):92-6.

33. Zogheib LV, Bona AD, Kimpara ET, McCabe JF. Effect of hydrofluoric acid etching duration on the roughness and flexural strength of a lithium disilicate-based glass ceramic. Brazilian Dental Journal. 2011;22(1):45-50.

34. Menees TS, Lawson NC, Beck PR, Burgess JO. Influence of particle abrasion or hydrofluoric acid etching on lithium disilicate flexural strength. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2014;112(5):1164-70.

35. Ozcan M, Vallittu PK. Effect of surface conditioning methods on the bond strength of luting cement to ceramics. Dental Materials. 2003;19(8):725-31.

36. Chen JH, Matsumura H, Atsuta M. Effect of different etching periods on the bond strength of a composite resin to a machinable porcelain. Journal of Dentistry. 1998;26(1):53-8.

37. Ozcan M, Volpato CA. Surface conditioning protocol for the adhesion of resinbased materials to glassy matrix ceramics: how to condition and why? The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry. 2015;17(3):292-3.

38. Lung CY, Matinlinna JP. Aspects of silane coupling agents and surface conditioning in dentistry: an overview. Dental Materials. 2012;28(5):467-77.

39. Della Bona A, Anusavice KJ, Hood JA. Effect of ceramic surface treatment on tensile bond strength to a resin cement. The International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2002;15(3):248-53.

40. Matinlinna JP, Vallittu PK. Silane based concepts on bonding resin composite to metals. The Journal of Contemporary Dental Practice. 2007;8(2):1-8.

41. Kalavacharla VK, Lawson NC, Ramp LC, Burgess JO. Influence of etching protocol and silane treatment with a universal adhesive on lithium disilicate bond strength. Operatve Dentistry. 2015;40(4):372-8.

42. Michida SM, Valandro LF, Yoshiga S, Andreatta Filho OD, Balducci I, Bottino MA. Effect of surface treatment of a glass-infiltrated alumina ceramic on the microtensile bond strength. Journal of Applied Oral Science. 2003;11(4):361-6.

43. Ban S, Sato H, Suehiro Y, Nakanishi H, Nawa M. Biaxial flexure strength and low temperature degradation of Ce-TZP/Al2O3 nanocomposite and Y-TZP as dental restoratives. Journal of Biomedical Materials Reseach. Part B, Applied Biomaterials. 2008;87(2):492-8.

44. Zhang Y, Lawn BR, Rekow ED, Thompson VP. Effect of sandblasting on the longterm performance of dental ceramics. Journal of Biomedical Materials Reseach. Part B, Applied Biomaterials. 2004;71(2):381-6.

45. Cristoforides P, Amaral R, May LG, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Composite resin to yttria stabilized tetragonal zirconia polycrystal bonding: comparison of repair methods. Operative Dentistry. 2012;37(3):263-71.

46. Pashley DH, Tay FR, Breschi L, Tjaderhane L, Carvalho RM, Carrilho M, et al. State of the art etch-and-rinse adhesives. Dental Materials. 2011;27(1):1-16.

47. Van Meerbeek B, Yoshihara K, Yoshida Y, Mine A, De Munck J, Van Landuyt KL. State of the art of self-etch adhesives. Dental Materials. 2011;27(1):17-28.

48. Kanca J, 3rd. One step bond strength to enamel and dentin. American Journal of Dentistry. 1997;10(1):5-8.

49. Giachetti L, Scaminaci Russo D, Bertini F, Pierleoni F, Nieri M. Effect of operator skill in relation to microleakage of total-etch and self-etch bonding systems. Journal of Dentistry. 2007;35(4):289-93.

50. Opdam NJ, Roeters FJ, Verdonschot EH. Adaptation and radiographic evaluation of four adhesive systems. Journal of Dentistry. 1997;25(5):391-7.

51. Frankenberger R, Sindel J, Kramer N, Petschelt A. Dentin bond strength and marginal adaptation: direct composite resins vs ceramic inlays. Operative Dentistry. 1999;24(3):147-55.

52. Hahn P, Schaller H, Hafner P, Hellwig E. Effect of different luting procedures on the seating of ceramic inlays. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 2000;27(1):1-8.

53. Peumans M, Kanumilli P, De Munck J, Van Landuyt K, Lambrechts P, Van Meerbeek B. Clinical effectiveness of contemporary adhesives: a systematic review of current clinical trials. Dental Materials. 2005;21(9):864-81.

54. Yoshida Y, Nagakane K, Fukuda R, Nakayama Y, Okazaki M, Shintani H, et al. Comparative study on adhesive performance of functional monomers. Journal of Dental Research. 2004;83(6):454-8.

55. De Munck J, Van Landuyt K, Peumans M, Poitevin A, Lambrechts P, Braem M, et al. A critical review of the durability of adhesion to tooth tissue: methods and results. Journal of Dental Research. 2005;84(2):118-32.

56. Munoz MA, Sezinando A, Luque-Martinez I, Szesz AL, Reis A, Loguercio AD, et al. Influence of a hydrophobic resin coating on the bonding efficacy of three universal adhesives. Journal of Dentistry. 2014;42(5):595-602.

57. Giannini M, Makishi P, Ayres AP, Vermelho PM, Fronza BM, Nikaido T, et al. Selfetch adhesive systems: a literature review. Brazilian Dental Journal. 2015;26(1):3-10. 58. Yoshida Y, Yoshihara K, Nagaoka N, Hayakawa S, Torii Y, Ogawa T, et al. Selfassembled nano-layering at the adhesive interface. Journal of Dental Research. 2012;91(4):376-81.

59. Wang T, Nikaido T, Nakabayashi N. Photocure bonding agent containing phosphoric methacrylate. Dental Materials. 1991;7(1):59-62.

60. Yoshida K, Tsuo Y, Atsuta M. Bonding of dual-cured resin cement to zirconia ceramic using phosphate acid ester monomer and zirconate coupler. Journal of Biomedical Materials Reseach. Part B, Applied Biomaterials. 2006;77b(1):28-33.
61. Amaral M, Belli R, Cesar PF, Valandro LF, Petschelt A, Lohbauer U. The potential of novel primers and universal adhesives to bond to zirconia. Journal of Dentistry. 2014;42(1):90-8.

62. Attar N, Tam LE, McComb D. Mechanical and physical properties of contemporary dental luting agents. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2003;89(2):127-34.
63. Chai JY, Steege JW. Effects of labial margin design on stress distribution of a porcelain-fused-to-metal crown. Journal of Prosthodontics. 1992;1(1):18-23.
64. Kamposiora P, Papavasilious G, Bayne SC, Felton DA. Finite element analysis estimates of cement microfracture under complete veneer crowns. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 1994;71(5):435-41.

65. Mitchell CA, Orr JF, Kennedy JG. Factors influencing the failure of dental glass ionomer luting cement due to contraction. Biomaterials. 1995;16(1):11-6.

66. Li ZC, White SN. Mechanical properties of dental luting cements. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 1999;81(5):597-609.

67. Haddad MF, Rocha EP, Assuncao WG. Cementation of prosthetic restorations: from conventional cementation to dental bonding concept. The Journal of Craniofacial Surgery. 2011;22(3):952-8. 68. Uctasli S, Hasanreisoglu U, Wilson HJ. The attenuation of radiation by porcelain and its effect on polymerization of resin cements. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 1994;21(5):565-75.

69. Blackman R, Barghi N, Duke E. Influence of ceramic thickness on the polymerization of light-cured resin cement. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 1990;63(3):295-300.

70. Caughman WF, Chan DC, Rueggeberg FA. Curing potential of dual-polymerizable resin cements in simulated clinical situations. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2001;86(1):101-6.

 Braga RR, Cesar PF, Gonzaga CC. Mechanical properties of resin cements with different activation modes. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 2002;29(3):257-62.
 Trajtenberg CP, Caram SJ, Kiat-Amnuay S. Microleakage of all-ceramic crowns using self-etching resin luting agents. Operative Dentistry. 2008;33(4):392-9.
 Mazzitelli C, Monticelli F, Osorio R, Casucci A, Toledano M, Ferrari M. Effect of simulated pulpal pressure on self-adhesive cements bonding to dentin. Dental Materials. 2008;24(9):1156-63.

74. Stawarczyk B, Beuer F, Ender A, Roos M, Edelhoff D, Wimmer T. Influence of cementation and cement type on the fracture load testing methodology of anterior crowns made of different materials. Dental Materials Journal. 2013;32(6):888-95.
75. Al-Wahadni AM, Hussey DL, Grey N, Hatamleh MM. Fracture resistance of aluminium oxide and lithium disilicate-based crowns using different luting cements: an in vitro study. The Journal of Contemporary Dental Practice. 2009;10(2):51-8.
76. Borges GA, Caldas D, Taskonak B, Yan J, Sobrinho LC, de Oliveira WJ. Fracture loads of all-ceramic crowns under wet and dry fatigue conditions. Journal of Prosthodontics. 2009;18(8):649-55.

77. Pashley DH, Sano H, Ciucchi B, Yoshiyama M, Carvalho RM. Adhesion testing of dentin bonding agents: a review. Dental Materials. 1995;11(2):117-25.

78. El Zohairy AA, de Gee AJ, de Jager N, van Ruijven LJ, Feilzer AJ. The influence of specimen attachment and dimension on microtensile strength. Journal of Dental Research. 2004;83(5):420-4.

79. Pashley DH, Ciucchi B, Sano H, Carvalho RM, Russell CM. Bond strength versus dentine structure: a modelling approach. Archives of Oral Biology. 1995;40(12):1109-18.

80. Shimada Y, Senawongse P, Harnirattisai C, Burrow MF, Nakaoki Y, Tagami J. Bond strength of two adhesive systems to primary and permanent enamel. Operative Dentistry. 2002;27(4):403-9.

81. Harnirattisai C, Roengrungreang P, Rangsisiripaiboon U, Senawongse P. Shear and micro-shear bond strengths of four self-etching adhesives measured immediately and 24 hours after application. Dental Materials Journal. 2012;31(5):779-87.

82. Scherrer SS, Cesar PF, Swain MV. Direct comparison of the bond strength results of the different test methods: a critical literature review. Dental Materials. 2010;26(2):e78-93.

83. Garboza CS, Berger SB, Guiraldo RD, Fugolin AP, Gonini-Junior A, Moura SK, et al. Influence of surface treatments and adhesive systems on lithium disilicate microshear bond strength. Brazilian Dental Journal. 2016;27(4):458-62.

84. Aydin B, Pamir T, Baltaci A, Orman MN, Turk T. Effect of storage solutions on microhardness of crown enamel and dentin. European Journal Dentistry. 2015;9(2):262-6.

85. Pashley DH, Tao L, Boyd L, King GE, Horner JA. Scanning electron microscopy of the substructure of smear layers in human dentine. Archives of Oral Biology.

1988;33(4):265-70. GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

86. Finger WJ. Dentin bonding agents. Relevance of in vitro investigations. American Journal of Dentistry. 1988;1 Spec No:184-8.

87. Tao L, Pashely DH, Boyd L. Effect of different types of smear layers on dentin and enamel shear bond strengths. Dental Materials. 1988;4(4):208-16.

 Song XF, Ren HT, Yin L. Machinability of lithium disilicate glass ceramic in in vitro dental diamond bur adjusting process. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2016;53:78-92.
 Souza EM, De Munck J, Pongprueksa P, Van Ende A, Van Meerbeek B. Correlative analysis of cement-dentin interfaces using an interfacial fracture toughness and micro-tensile bond strength approach. Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials. 2016;32(12):1575-85. 90. Luhrs AK, Pongprueksa P, De Munck J, Geurtsen W, Van Meerbeek B. Curing mode affects bond strength of adhesively luted composite CAD/CAM restorations to dentin. Dental Materials. 2014;30(3):281-91.

91. Moro AF, Ramos AB, Rocha GM, Perez CD. Effect of prior silane application on the bond strength of a universal adhesive to a lithium disilicate ceramic. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2017.

92. Manso AG, Gonzalez-Lopez S, Bolanos-Carmona V, Mauricio PJ, Felix SA, Carvalho PA. Regional bond strength to lateral walls in class I and II ceramic inlays luted with four resin cements and glass-ionomer luting agent. The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry. 2011;13(5):455-65.

93. Flury S, Schmidt SZ, Peutzfeldt A, Lussi A. Dentin bond strength of two resinceramic computer-aided design/computer-aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) materials and five cements after six months storage. Dental Materials Journal. 2016;35(5):728-35.

94. Kitasako Y, Burrow MF, Nikaido T, Harada N, Inokoshi S, Yamada T, et al. Shear and tensile bond testing for resin cement evaluation. Dental Material. 1995;11(5):298-304.
95. Erhardt MC, Cavalcante LM, Pimenta LA. Influence of phosphoric acid pretreatment on self-etching bond strengths. Journal of Esthetic and Restorative Dentistry. 2004;16(1):33-40.

96. Moszner N, Salz U, Zimmermann J. Chemical aspects of self-etching enameldentin adhesives: a systematic review. Dental Materials. 2005;21(10):895-910.

97. Cardoso MV, de Almeida Neves A, Mine A, Coutinho E, Van Landuyt K, De Munck J, et al. Current aspects on bonding effectiveness and stability in adhesive dentistry. Australian Dental Journal. 2011;56 Suppl 1:31-44.

98. Stape THS, Tjaderhane L, Abuna G, Sinhoreti MAC, Martins LRM, Tezvergil-Mutluay A. Optimization of the etch-and-rinse technique: new perspectives to improve resindentin bonding and hybrid layer integrity by reducing residual water using dimethyl sulfoxide pretreatments. Dental Materials. 2018;34(7):967-77.

99. Scaminaci Russo D, Pierleoni F, Buti J, Ferrari M, Giachetti L. In vitro comparison of bonding effectiveness of different adhesive strategies. American Journal of Dentistry. 2014;27(6):323-9.

100. Yao C, Yang H, Yu J, Zhang L, Zhu Y, Huang C. High bond durability of universal adhesives on glass ceramics facilitated by silane pretreatment. Operative Dentistry. 2018;43(6):602-12.

101. Tian F, Zhou L, Zhang Z, Niu L, Zhang L, Chen C, et al. Paucity of nanolayering in resin-dentin interfaces of MDP-based adhesives. Journal of Dental Research. 2016;95(4):380-7.

102. Samimi P, Hasankhani A, Matinlinna JP, Mirmohammadi H. Effect of adhesive resin type for bonding to zirconia using two surface pretreatments. The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry. 2015;17(4):353-9.

103. Oyague RC, Monticelli F, Toledano M, Osorio E, Ferrari M, Osorio R. Effect of water aging on microtensile bond strength of dual-cured resin cements to pre-treated sintered zirconium-oxide ceramics. Dental Materials. 2009;25(3):392-9.

104. Rojpaibool T, Leevailoj C. Fracture resistance of lithium disilicate ceramics bonded to enamel or dentin using different resin cement types and film thicknesses. J Prosthodont. 2017;26(2):141-9.

105. Peumans M, Valjakova EB, De Munck J, Mishevska CB, Van Meerbeek B. Bonding effectiveness of luting composites to different CAD/CAM materials. The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry. 2016;18(4):289-302.

106. Pisani-Proenca J, Erhardt MC, Amaral R, Valandro LF, Bottino MA, Del Castillo-Salmeron R. Influence of different surface conditioning protocols on microtensile bond strength of self-adhesive resin cements to dentin. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2011;105(4):227-35.

107. Hikita K, Van Meerbeek B, De Munck J, Ikeda T, Van Landuyt K, Maida T, et al. Bonding effectiveness of adhesive luting agents to enamel and dentin. Dental Materials. 2007;23(1):71-80.

108. Schwindling FS, Rues S, Schmitter M. Fracture resistance of glazed, full-contour ZLS incisor crowns. Journal of Prosthodontic Research. 2017;61(3):344-9.

109. Belli R, Wendler M, de Ligny D, Cicconi MR, Petschelt A, Peterlik H, et al. Chairside CAD/CAM materials. Part 1: measurement of elastic constants and microstructural characterization. Dental Materials. 2017;33(1):84-98. 110. Ramos Nde C, Campos TM, Paz IS, Machado JP, Bottino MA, Cesar PF, et al. Microstructure characterization and SCG of newly engineered dental ceramics. Dental Materials. 2016;32(7):870-8.

111. DeHoff PH, Anusavice KJ, Wang Z. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of the shear bond test. Dental Materials. 1995;11(2):126-31.

112. Van Noort R, Noroozi S, Howard IC, Cardew G. A critique of bond strength measurements. Journal of Dentistry. 1989;17(2):61-7.

113. Foong J, Lee K, Nguyen C, Tang G, Austin D, Ch'ng C, et al. Comparison of microshear bond strengths of four self-etching bonding systems to enamel using two test methods. Australian Dental Journal. 2006;51(3):252-7.





Appendix A. Microshear bond strength values of Vita Suprinity[®] cemented to dentin using Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing etch-and-rinse adhesive system.

	Units	MPa
	VSSM-1	46.2560
	VSSM-2	44.7782
	VSSM-3	48.9838
	VSSM-4	36.8980
	VSSM-5	39.5468
	VSSM-6	48.5736
	VSSM-7	29.8953
ຈຸ	VSSM-8 หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยา	22.6272
	VSSM-9 GKORN UNIVE	39.3393
	VSSM-10	36.1703
	VSSM-11	37.2003
	VSSM-12	25.9626
	MEAN	38.0193
	SD	8.5432

Appendix B. Microshear bond strength values of Vita Suprinity® cemented to dentin

using Single Bond Universal with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing self-etch adhesive system.

ι	Jnits	MPa
١	/SSU-1	31.3474
١	VSSU-2	27.4241
\	VSSU-3	54.5224
7	VSSU-4	38.4515
	VSSU-5	51.9068
١	VSSU-6	39.5574
	VSSU-7	36.8959
	VSSU-8	36.7538
) W (/SSU-9 Standard In	45.1985
UΞ	VSSU-10	22.9759
١	/SSU-11	16.8285
١	VSSU-12	34.1125
١	MEAN	36.3312
0	SD	11.0180

using $\operatorname{Rely} X^{\mathrm{TM}}$ Unicem self-adhesive luting system.

	Units	MPa
	VSU2-1	3.0432
	VSU2-2	13.4588
	VSU2-3	14.2343
	VSU2-4	3.5579
	VSU2-5	2.5490
	VSU2-6	9.4611
Con los	VSU2-7	10.3775
	VSU2-8	2.3113
2 %	VSU2-9	10.9300
IUI	VSU2-10	11.8868
	VSU2-11	6.1411
	VSU2-12	3.5972
	MEAN	7.6290
	SD	4.5498

Appendix D. Microshear bond strength values of fired-Celtra[®] Duo cemented to dentin using Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing etch-andrinse adhesive system.

Units	MPa
FCDSM-1	57.8736
FCDSM-2	55.1799
FCDSM-3	49.6085
FCDSM-4	10.9228
FCDSM-5	45.3492
FCDSM-6	38.9823
FCDSM-7	17.2974
FCDSM-8	43.5895
FCDSM-9	34.1044
FCDSM-10	18.2022
FCDSM-11	35.4461
FCDSM-12	38.5214
MEAN	37.0898
SD	15.0056

Appendix E. Microshear bond strength values of fired-Celtra[®] Duo cemented to dentin using Single Bond Universal with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing self-etch adhesive system.

Units	MPa
FCDSU-1	26.2611
FCDSU-2	29.4582
FCDSU-3	44.5136
FCDSU-4	19.2647
FCDSU-5	23.9970
FCDSU-6	16.1633
FCDSU-7	37.5749
FCDSU-8	29.0358
FCDSU-9	33.3473
FCDSU-10	37.4287
FCDSU-11	43.4360
FCDSU-12	39.1191
MEAN	31.6333
SD	9.1653

Appendix F. Microshear bond strength values of fired-Celtra® Duo cemented to

dentin using $\operatorname{RelyX}^{\operatorname{TM}}$ Unicem self-adhesive luting system.

	Units	MPa
	FCDU2-1	5.6341
	FCDU2-2	17.6221
	FCDU2-3	4.9310
	FCDU2-4	3.6261
	FCDU2-5	8.0662
	FCDU2-6	13.2334
9	FCDU2-7	5.8924
	FCDU2-8	4.8240
จุ ห	FCDU2-9	3.1609
101	FCDU2-10	8.5990
	FCDU2-11	7.7666
	FCDU2-12	8.9716
	MEAN	7.6940
	SD	4.1812

Appendix G. Microshear bond strength values of unfired-Celtra[®] Duo cemented to dentin using Scotchbond[™] Multi-purpose with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing etch-and-rinse adhesive system.

	Units	MPa
,	UCDSM-1	31.3196
	UCDSM-2	36.9276
	UCDSM-3	27.5701
	UCDSM-4	26.3918
	UCDSM-5	45.1383
Cores and	UCDSM-6	53.2294
-	UCDSM-7	23.7966
U	UCDSM-8	35.7760
	UCDSM-9	23.5110
	UCDSM-10	34.7351
	UCDSM-11	42.8622
	UCDSM-12	31.6348
	MEAN	34.4077
	SD	9.0893

Appendix H. Microshear bond strength values of unfired-Celtra[®] Duo cemented to dentin using Single Bond Universal with RelyX[™] Ultimate utilizing self-etch adhesive system.

Units	MPa
UCDSU-1	23.3156
UCDSU-2	21.0296
UCDSU-3	16.3791
UCDSU-4	13.9535
UCDSU-5	26.1370
UCDSU-6	28.7970
UCDSU-7	22.7619
UCDSU-8	40.0423
UCDSU-9	29.8975
UCDSU-10	40.2096
UCDSU-11	21.0638
UCDSU-12	33.1846
MEAN	26.3976
SD	8.4007

Appendix I. Microshear bond strength values of unfired-Celtra® Duo cemented to

dentin using $\operatorname{RelyX}^{\operatorname{TM}}$ Unicem self-adhesive luting system.

	Units	MPa
	UCDU2-1	12.5968
	UCDU2-2	22.6683
	UCDU2-3	11.6162
	UCDU2-4	29.9708
	UCDU2-5	18.3494
	UCDU2-6	1.5674
9	UCDU2-7	12.4158
-	UCDU2-8	12.2462
จุ ห	UCDU2-9	18.4840
101	UCDU2-10	20.8844
	UCDU2-11	32.3499
	UCDU2-12	28.0485
	MEAN	18.4331
	SD	8.9579

VITA

NAME	Mr. Natthapong Itthipongsatorn
DATE OF BIRTH	03 Sep 1987
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	2005-2011 Doctor of Dental Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand
HOME ADDRESS	447 k, Tawai road, Muaeng, Samutsakorn, Thailand

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY